

Food as the Gateway to Community Engagement and Ecological Thinking

By Anh (April) Nhat Nguyen BFA, Messiah College, 2016

> A critical and process documentation paper submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Design, **Emily Carr University of Art + Design**

Table of Contents

- 02 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
- 03 ABSTRACT & KEYWORDS
- 04 INTRODUCTION
- 05 CHAPTER 1 GROUNDWORK

06

CONTEXT & FRAMING



RESEARCH METHODS

- 10 Design for Sustainable Behavior
- 12 Participatory & Empathic Design
- 13 Information Design
- 15 Community-based Project

17	CHAPTER 2
	EXPLORATIONS

18

GENERATING

- 18 Your Recent Meal
- 22 Food - Animate - Inanimate
- 19 Draw Your Kitchen
- Build a Communal Kitchen 23



REFINING

31 CHAPTER 3 **DESIGN OUTCOME & FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

32

DESIGN OUTCOME

Precedent Review 36 **MVP** Development 40 User Experience Testing 42 **Design Iteration**



FUTURE DIRECTIONS & CONCLUSION

49 REFERENCES

53 **APPENDIXES**

Table of Figures

- 12 **Figure 1.** Communication model describing the knowledge boundaries between a messenger and a receiver
- 12 Figure 2. Gudowsky and Bechtold's four types of communication activities
- 18 Figure 3. Infographic describing the design process of Your Recent Meal activity
- 19 Figure 4. Infographic describing the design process of *Draw Your Kitchen* activity
- 20 **Figure 5.** Kitchen layouts sketched by participants
- 20 Figure 6. Synthesis of the major themes discussed during Draw Your Kitchen activity
- 21 **Figure 7.** Infographic describing the design process of Food
- 22 Figure 8. Diagrams sketched by Food Animate Inanimate participants
- 23 **Figure 9.** Sketch of the communal kitchen
- 25 Figure 9. Chart measuring participants' engagement with food
- 25 Figure 10. Chart measuring participants' engagement with the matter of environmental sustainability
- 25 **Figure 11.** Chart measuring participants' engagement with their community
- 25 **Figure 12.** Diagram positioning an individual's level of engagement in relation to food-related activities, environmental sustainability, and community participation
- 27 Figure 13. Notes from the interviews with individual participants
- 27 Figure 14. Brainstorming session with participants
- 27 Figure 15. The morphological matrix generated by participants
- 27 Figure 16. Categorization of participants' ideas
- 28 Figure 17. Storyboards based on participants' ideas
- 36 **Figure 18.** Persona development
- 37 **Figure 19.** Reader's user journey
- 37 **Figure 20.** Writer's user journey
- 38 **Figure 21.** Flow of first time user's searching for resources
- 38 **Figure 22.** Homepage wireframe

- **Figure 23.** The design iteration of welcome page based on the first user experience testing
- **Figure 24.** The design iteration of homepage based on the first user experience testing
- **Figure 25.** The CTA button for creating a new post placed next to the search bar
- 42 Figure 26. On the same page, the CTA button for creating a new post placed after every five results as a reminder
- **Figure 27.** An example of a discussion post
- **Figure 28.** The first step in creating an initiative
- **Figure 29.** Research ethics approval
- **Figure 30.** Research website homepage
- **Figure 31.** *Fridge Talk*'s General survey
- **Figure 32.** Newsletter for participant recruitment
- **Figure 33.** *Fridge Talk*'s interview format
- **Figure 34.** Flow of first time user's welcome page
- **Figure 35.** Search bar
- **Figure 36.** Flow of first time user's searching for initiatives
- **Figure 37.** Flow of first time user's searching for products and services
- **Figure 38.** Welcome page wireframe
- **Figure 39.** Global view wireframe
- 59 Figure 40. Result page wireframe
- **Figure 41.** Initiatives page wireframe
- 61 Figure 42. Initiative post wireframe
- **Figure 43.** Resources page wireframe
- 63 Figure 44. Products and services page wireframe
- **Figure 45.** Create new content page wireframe

Acknowledgments

This project was made possible thanks to the encouragement and contribution of many people over the past two years.

Thank you to my friends and family for your unwavering love and support through the ups and downs of this process.

To my supervisor, Katherine Gillieson, thank you for your mentorship throughout this winding journey. Your insightful feedbacks and attention to detail expanded the breadth and depth of my knowledge and motivated me to continue refining my work.

Thank you my instructors at Emily Carr University who informed and challenged my design research practices.

My graduate studies would not have been the same without the companionship of the MDes 2021 Cohort. Your inspirational work and kind-hearted spirit brought so much joy to my learning experience and inspired me to persevere during the difficult time of social distancing.

Great thanks to the participants who generously donated their precious time and thoughtful inputs to the research. The workshops done with you taught me to be a better facilitator and design researcher.

Abstract

Responsible for 60% of biodiversity loss (WWF 2018), our food system is in dire need of re-imagination and reconstruction. Besides its ecological impacts, food carries within itself the traditions of a family, a community, or a region. It sustains our livelihood, drives conversations, and evokes memories. Regard-less of our social or political backgrounds, we are all connected to and through food in one way or another. It is thus a most promising medium to not only raise awareness about ecological matters but also encourage climate actions. Through the application of participatory design, this project aims to gain insights into individuals' domestic food practices and the challenges they encounter in adopting a more sustainable lifestyle. The findings gathered through a series of exploratory activities inform the development of an actionable-knowl-edge-sharing platform in which participants learn from and contribute to the collection of sustainable food practices across cultures. The proposed collaborative community will serve to empower environmental advocates to make concrete impacts within the current food system.

Keywords



Introduction

As a witness to the environmental degradation in my country, Vietnam, I came to understand the intensive and extensive influence of ecological crisis. Nevertheless, for the longest time, I'd always associated the issue with politics and economics rather than with something as simple as food. In my youth, food was invisible to me; it was either handled by another person–my mom, the school's cafeteria, some street vendor–or purchased and consumed in a quick and dirty manner, merely to cross one of the routines out of my schedule. Not until I lived independently and started cooking for myself did the whole process of bring-ing food to the table manifest itself in a new light before my eyes. The more I looked into the food industry and its impact on the environment, the message of sustainability to the public and encouraging them to take action.

Groundwork

CHAPTER 1

Context & Framing

Food & Ecological Sustainability

One of my first encounters with food and sustainability was through Dan Barber's *The Third Plate* (2014). With his long-term mission of transforming food and farming, Dan Barber rose to prominence as a pioneering chef that blurred the line between dining and educational experiences.

His book, *The Third Plate*, documents his professional growth in relation to his advocacy of sustainability and explains the rationale behind the way his restaurant is run. In the context of ecological crisis and food insecurity, the author recognizes his responsibilities to not only satisfy a customer's appetite but also use his culinary expertise to reveal how our negligence of the food source and exploitation of nature disrupt the ecosystem. The industrial farming system, or more specifically, monoculture, has deteriorated the condition of our natural resources, which in effect, deprives our food of sufficient nutrition and rich flavor.

Barber's compelling stories point out the undeniable correlation between our food-related activities and the impoverishment of the global natural landscape. However, our food system and its ecological impacts are too vast and complex for a one-size-fits-all solution; its reconstruction requires the collective effort from all sides including community members, policymakers, business leaders, etc. As a communication and interaction designer, I was most concerned about how to employ my knowledge and skills in tackling the subjects of food and sustainability. Thus, the majority of my groundwork was dedicated to exploring potential ways of using food as a medium to promote environmental initiatives.

Linear vs. Ecological Thinking

For those, like Barber, with deep engagement with the natural world and profound understanding of the organisms' interconnection and interdependence, linear thinking may be deemed to pose a danger to ecological harmony. Its focus on the cause-and-effect relationship and the multiplication of the same model for the same desirable result fails to acknowledge the context within which an element exists, thus neglects the ecological impacts of one action.

Unlike linear thinking, ecological thinking proposes a rather broad perspective of the ecosystem. According to Donella Meadows, a system isn't just a collection of things; it is an coherently organized and interconnected set of elements (2009). This holistic viewpoint will inform more eco-centric, as opposed to efficiency-oriented, design solutions and facilitate the re-imagination of our food system and the restoration of our ecological balance.

sustainable development

n.

development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987)

linear thinking

п.

a thinking mode that focuses on the connection between cause-and-effect event pairs

ecology

п.

the branch of biology dealing with the relations and interactions between organisms and their environment, including other organisms

("ecology," n.d.)

ecological thinking

п.

the branch of systems thinking that emphasizes the interconnectedness and interdependence between organisms and their environment

community

n.

a group of people with common characteristics or interests co-existing in the same physical or virtual space

community engagement

n.

citizens' commitment to community and the willingness to take actions to solve problems or participate in activities that make our community better

(Vancouver Foundation's Connect & Engage: A Survey of Metro Vancouver 2017) Nevertheless, the path to fulfilling this objective poses mounting challenges. While elements are easily identified, the interconnections among elements aren't obvious. Therefore, ecological thinking requires the resistance against our instinct to make snap judgments and look beyond the visible to uncover the invisible. This ability is most likely to be acquired through intensive training and persistent self-discipline. Moreover, ecological thinking involves the capacity to think in complexity because "systems can be embedded in systems, which are embedded in yet other systems" (Meadows, 2009, p. 12). This, however, may cause cognitive overload and reduce the audience's information intake. The application of ecological thinking does not bring about immediate results as it takes long-term planning and careful calculation to avoid unfavorable consequences. The slow problem-solving process, unfortunately, does not align with the sentiment of our efficiency-driven society.

Bearing all of the aforementioned difficulties in mind, I hope to deliver the design solutions that not only prompt my audience to think far and broadly, but also speak to their day-to-day needs and challenges.

Community Engagement

The challenges in adopting ecological thinking could be mitigated through encouraging the public's participation in social activities, which allows them to step out of their enclosed bubble and observe how their own action affects the surrounding environment. In his paper *When ANT meets SPIDER: Social theory for arthropods*, Tim Ingold illustrates this interdependent relationship through the analogy of a butterfly and a fish.

True, it is not the butterfly alone that flies but butterfly-in-air and not the fish alone that swims but fish-in-water. But that no more makes the butterfly a fly-air hybrid than it makes the fish a fish-water hybrid. It is simply to recognise that for things to interact they must be immersed in a kind of force-field set up by the currents of the media that surround them. Cut out from these currents—that is, reduced to objects—they would be dead (p. 213).

In this sense, community engagement has the potential to unveil the complex interconnections through the immersion into everyday interactions.

Nevertheless, community engagement is not everyone's cup of tea. My early investigation elicited the role of food in connecting individuals with their physical living space, activity space, and abstract space—the space of memory, emotion, and social relations. Among these aspects, the element of community engagement fit rather loosely in the bigger picture; participants expressed their reluctance to interact with their neighbors, which resulted in their distrust in them. This attitude may deprive those individuals of the opportunity to become active agents of change. In time of ecological crisis, such dispersed social energy would be detrimental to the global sustainability movement. Therefore, my investigations looked for ways of exhibiting the relation between gathering the collective efforts to drive the sustainable initiatives forward.

Research Methods



Design for Sustainable Behavior

1. Design for Sustainability

Design for Sustainability (DfS) was born out of the concerns about the impact of design and its production on the ecological environment, as opposed to the consumerist design which took dominance during the 90's and used styling as a means to appeal to the market and increase consumption volume. In Ann Thorpe's The Designer's Atlas of Sustainability, DfS includes the 'theories and practices for design that cultivate ecological, economic, and cultural conditions that will support human well-being indefinitely' (2007, p. 13). Building on top of this definition, I'd like to add that because human well-being depends on the well-being of the ecosystem, the stewardship of human beings' welfare is equal to the protection of the ecosystem and all other-than-human beings existing within it. Over the course of its evolution, DfS has expanded from a technical and product-centric focus towards system innovations and transitions (Ceschin & Gaziulusoy, 2016, p. 118). In this sense, sustainability is not just "an add-on to the design [but] must be integral to that design, and design that design in terms of its goals and ambitions (Chick & Micklethwaite, 2011, p. 116). With its wide spectrum of applications, I looked into incorporating ecological thinking and sustainable behaviors at the societal level.

2. Design for Behavior Change

Since it was first published in 2009 by Dr. B.J.Fogg, founder of Standford University's Behavior Design Lab, the Fogg Behavior Model (FBM) has gained reputation among those who work in human-centered and persuasive design sector. Based on the science of human psychology, the model identifies three factors needed for a target behavior to occur: (1) motivation, (2) ability, and (3) triggers (2009, p. 1). Despite its significance in today's technological landscape, the FBM neither sets out to challenge the status quo nor addresses the contemporary ethical considerations of persuasive technologies. In his paper, Dr. Fogg explicitly mentions that "persuasion" refers to "attempts to influence people's behaviors, not attitudes" (2009, p. 1). This goal-driven approach could raise ethical concerns because it disregards the users' autonomy and has the potential to cross the line between persuasion and manipulation. As a result, while the FBM provides a useful framework to drive behavioral changes, I searched for a model that brought about long-term effects and involved users with the design process.

3. Design for Sustainable Behavior

Although my objective aligned the most with DfS, its wide range of discussed topics made it difficult for me to navigate the research. Meanwhile, DfBC focuses on behavioral changes without explaining the reasons for those changes to occur. DfSB manages to solve the challenges within these two fields by merging them together. Unlike the FBM, which neglects the users' autonomy,

Design for Sustainability

n.

theories and practices for design that cultivate ecological, economic, and cultural conditions that will support human well-being

Model for Ecological Thinking

Ecological thinking governs all human activities because they have an impact on global ecology and vice versa.



(White, St. Pierre, & Belletire, 2013, pp. 1–3)

HyunJae Daniel Shin and Richard Bull's framework encourages the internalisation of behavioral change by incorporating empowerment, information, and motivation (2019). In this model, the users build their own connection with environmental matters through feedbacks and feedforwards, which describes the "effect of perceived characteristics of availability, functionality and usability acquired from an artefact" (Matsumura, 2013, p. 70). Because their adoption of sustainable behaviors is rooted in internal motivation, it requires less reinforcements and generates a rather rewarding feeling. This model served my research much better than the FBM because the users could customize it to their unique needs and challenges without having to rely on the top-down decision-making.

Participatory Design

Participatory design had been at the crux of my research from the beginning because despite my keen interest in improving the public's ecological literacy, my knowledge alone fell short in delivering sufficient education of environmental issues. Instead of relying solely on my limited resources, I approached those sharing the same concerns and found out that a long history of sustainable food practices had already existed and been waiting to be discovered and spread. Hence, my objective shifted from disseminating educational materials about food and sustainability to creating a platform where the audience could contribute their knowledge, open discussions, and get involved in actionable initiatives.

Participatory design stems from the belief that each individual has certain level of knowledge, expertise, and creativity to offer. Thus, it aims at developing methods to unearth the hidden assets and give the users the authority to shape and influence the final results. That means their presence should be introduced not only "at the moment of decision" but also "at the moment of idea generation" (Jungk, 1972, pp. 121–122). In this regard, the participatory approach flattens the hierarchy between designers and users and enables robust collaboration. Additionally, the inputs from the users help validate or invalidate assumptions at the early stage of project development.

For my research, the participatory approach gave me insights into the participants' understanding of the relationship between food and environmental issues and pointed to possible sources of influence in their domestic food practices. Their conversations helped me refine the scope of the research and inspired the design outcomes.

Empathic Design

The core value of participatory design lies in the commitment to understanding the users' pain points and needs in order to deliver relevant products. In order to attain that goal, designers need to develop a sense of empathy with their users. In the context of my research, empathy is an attitude that encompasses all participatory activities starting with active listening and allowing the participants to express their suppressed thoughts and feelings. According to IDEO's article, "Empathy on the Edge," empathy is an innate ability and could be honed through "deliberate practice" (2014, p. 3). However, in her book, *Health Design Thinking*, Ellen Lupton warns that designers "can never really wear another person's shoes" and that "focusing exclusively on empathy can lead to separating 'us' (designers) from 'them' (users)" (Ku & Lupton, 2020, p. 23–24). Thus, the interaction between designers and users should be integrated throughout the entire design process for constant validation and revision.

Participatory Design

n.

an approach to design that attempts to actively involve the people who are being served through design in the process to help ensure that the designed product/ service meets their needs (B.-N. Sanders & Stappers, 2012, pp. 19)

empathy

n.

a form of understanding in which the empathizer attempts to understand somebody else's situation or perspective, and tries to predict how that person would experience and react to events or changes in conditions

(B.-N. Sanders & Stappers, 2012, pp. 240)



Figure 1.

Communication model describing the knowledge boundaries between a messenger and a receiver

Information Design

One of the main focal points of my research dealt with aligning the investigated subjects with my current design practices grounded mostly in communication and interaction design. As the research evolved, I began to realize a lot of food and sustainability issues had some correlation with how information was formed, exchanged, and turned into concrete actions.

Among the scholarly resources, my research resonates most with Young-ae Hahn's paper, Communication of Food Sustainability (2014) in which Hahn defines the dynamic between the messenger, the receiver, and the message based on the types of knowledge, information flow, and communication contexts. Here she draws attention to the notion of "knowledge boundaries" shaped by a person's (i) background knowledge, (ii) personal circumstances, (iii) attitudes shaped by the knowledge and circumstance, and (iv) current goals and interests (p. 269). Designers should bear in mind these factors when introducing foreign concepts and practices to individuals or communication contexts may



Figure 2. Gudowsky and Bechtold's four types of communication activities

lead to the audience's resistance to new concepts and the failure in implementing innovative invention.

The article also refers to Gudowsky and Bechtold's four types of information flow as summarized in Figure 2.

Although the model of *messenger*—*message*—*receiver* has existed for quite some time, it gains a new meaning when applied specifically to the realm of communication of food sustainability. Based on the framework suggested in the article, I situated my research within the realm of understanding and negotiation where participants learned how to show "what values they can create for others" and worked towards the same goal (Hahn, 2014, p. 271).

In order to achieve understanding and consensus in communication, the information needs to be presented in the way that invites reaction and conversation. Joanna Boehnert's article, *Ecological Perception: Seeing Systems* (2014), touches on the application of visual communication in elucidating the complexities and subtleties of the interrelationships within the ecosystem. This paper reaffirms that visual communication as a form of metaphor goes beyond laying out the facts; it has the potential to bring out emotions, challenge assumptions about reality, and encourage positive changes. The author also puts emphasis on the role of designers in facilitating the audience's process of translating information into knowledge, and I may add, action. Because deciphering visual communication and acquiring visual intelligence—the ability to perceive, analyze, and understand the logic of visual messages—are not innate, these aptitudes need to be trained and nurtured (p. 428).

One of the points that Boehnert omits in this paper is the visual representation of network systems usually runs the risk of causing cognitive overload, a condition that occurs when the information input exceeds the audience's processing capacity. Unlike the traditional static visual representation, the emergence of interactive information graphics allows information designers a wider range of visual expression and the audience the freedom to navigate through a wealth of information. In his article, Interactive Information Graphics: A framework for classifying a visual genre (2017), Wibke Weber lays out the strategies in producing information graphics and forging the relationship between the presented information and the audience. Here, he introduces the notion of dramaturgic structure, "the framework of an infographic provided to the user by the producers" and its two modes-linearity and nonlinearity (p. 247). While a linear structure ensures a directive top-down storytelling from designers to the audience, "a highly interactive nonlinear dramaturgy requires a 'bottom-up-input from the user" (Ryan, 2006, p. 99). In the case of my knowledge-sharing platform, the nonlinear approach made a better fit in optimizing the audience's authority over content creation and discovery.

Community-based Project

The participatory approach not only gives the users the chance to voice their opinions but also kindles their creative and collaborative spirit. As mentioned before, my early research took notice of the participants' reluctance to interact with their neighbors and partake in community activities. The phenomenon of social withdrawal jeopardizes the potential of social innovation.

Thus, in order to tackle such a complex subject as developing sustainable food practices, it is of utmost importance for a designer such as myself to come up with a strategy that could gather these isolated little drops of water to "make the mighty ocean" (Carney, 1845). In this regard, I looked to Ezio Manzini—a lead-ing thinker in design for sustainability and social innovation for inspiration. In what he calls "the contemporary post-traditional, highly connected societies," the inhabitants of this fluid world can be seen as "people free of the previous social ties but nestled in a mesh of interactions taking place in both the physical and the digital worlds" (Manzini, 2018, p. 162).

Indeed, even for my research participants with low levels of community engagement, they were often connected with the outside world via the means of digital social networks. Without the geographic limitation, people could choose to receive and generate information and ideas in their own way. We have witnessed many successful examples of how the actions and decisions made in the virtual world could be translated into those in the real world. For instance, Ecosia, a tech company based in Berlin, Germany, manages to breed two seemingly irrelevant aspects—digital privacy and environmental protection—into an interesting product—a secure search engine that plants trees. As stated on its homepage, Ecosia promises to use the ad revenue from its users' searches to plant trees where they are needed the most. Products and services like Ecosia have transformed the traditional roles of consumers or users into the actors in solving problems.

With my background in communication and interaction design, I saw Manzini's proposal of "the creation of the connected loneliness of solitary individuals" as an inspiration to gather the collective efforts for the promotion of food sustainability using the digital infrastructure.



CHAPTER 2 Explorations

Generating

Spring 2020

My design process started with what Steve Portigal calls a bland curiosity—a simple quest to explore my fields of interest and learn from my participants without the commitment to any particular design outcome (2013, p. 4). Each participatory activity was an experiment of organizing and engaging a group of people in the conversation about food and sustainability using a variety of design methods. The exploratory approach allowed me to investigate multifold components of the research development:

- What most pressing aspects of food and its ecological impacts should be addressed?
- · Who is my target audience and how do I gain access to them?
- How do I create workshops conducive to organic conversation and robust idea generation?
- · What type of dynamic do I want to form between the participants?
- · How do I employ my design skills to deliver a relevant solution?

The insights gained from this phase informed a more concerted series of participatory activities in the refining stage.

Your Recent Meal

Objective

A game activity was designed to encourage teams to challenge each other to think about the larger contexts surrounding their meals.

Design process

The design process takes place as shown in figure 3.

O Analysis & Insights

A skill that I took away from this project was organizing a group activity. Because I had never created participatory activity before, it was stressful to stand in front of approximately 20 people, to make sure the game was well understood, and to open up for random responses. As the monitor of the activity, I needed to stay sensitive to the participants' reactions and manage the energy of the room.

Additionally, designing a functional and interesting game brought up certain challenges. In order to get to more thought-provoking questions, more rounds needed to be played, which paradoxically made the game repetitive and boring. Therefore, a form of guidance to prompt active engagement at the very beginning was necessary.

Your Recent Meal

A game activity designed to encourage teams to challenge each other to think about the larger contexts surrounding their meals.

Figure 3.

Infographic describing the design process of *Your Recent Meal* activity



Moreover, the activity created unnecessary competitiveness which could trigger a sense of humiliation and run against the original idea of establishing an inclusive and welcoming community. For future projects, I created activities that leaned more towards co-creation because it gave more weight to participants' inputs.

Draw Your Kitchen

Objective

I investigated the relations between food and:

- a personal idea of it
- physical space—kitchen and house
- · community: the space within which the house was situated

and the role of technology in strengthening the sense of community

through a drawing-and-sharing activity that prompted participants to reflect on their interaction with food and with the community in which their food was circulated.

Draw Your Kitchen

A drawing-and-sharing activity prompting participants to reflect on their interaction with food and with the community in which their food was circulated.

Design process

The participants were asked to draw the layout of their kitchen on a square. From there, the drawing expanded to other sections of their living space. Building on top of the first layer, the participants described their typical day, how they moved around the space, and how they interacted with food.

Analysis & Insights

The simultaneous actions of drawing and storytelling helped the participants recall the memories with more ease. Because most of the participants spoke English as a second language, sometimes there was no equivalent translation to certain concepts. Instead of having to describe them in words only, the participants could rely on the visuals to get the message across.

This activity played a significant role in shaping my design experiments because it brought more specificity to such complex and vast subjects as food and ecological sustainability. The examination of one's living space showed that food was integral to everyday activities, and domestic food practices reflected a person's understanding of and attitude towards the ecological impacts of the food industry. Therefore, it was reasonable to suggest that the systemic changes in the food landscape could start with facilitating individuals' transition to more eco-conscious food consumption behavior.



Figure 4. Infographic describing the design process of *Draw Your Kitchen* activity







Figure 5. Kitchen layouts sketched by participants



Figure 6. Synthesis of the major themes discussed during *Draw Your Kitchen* activity

Food - Animate - Inanimate

Objective

I investigated the relations between food and:

- animate beings—living organisms such as human beings, animals, plants, etc.
- inanimate beings—non-living objects such as natural forces, natural objects, man-made artifacts, etc.
- space—a defined or undefined area containing and surrounding all beings

through a participatory activity that prompted participants to reflect on how food was interwoven in their daily life.



Food - Animate - Inanimate

A participatory activity for reflecting on how food was interwoven in everyday life.



Design process

This activity was a further exploration of drawing and storytelling in sharing ideas. For the activity, the participants were divided into two groups, taking turns to talk about their relationship with food, animate beings, inanimate beings, and space. Unlike the first activity *Your Recent Meal*, the group division was not meant to instigate competitiveness, but rather enabled more focused conversations.

Analysis & Insights

Although the activity used forced combination as a method to generate unconventional ideas, the lack of structure and instruction resulted in divergence and confusion. Moreover, the terms *animate and inanimate beings* seemed too abstract and vague that the participants had a hard time grasping the concepts. This activity taught me about the importance of a thoughtfully designed framework for spontaneity and creativity to emerge. The lessons learned from this activity would be applied to subsequent ones with more defined structures.



Figure 8. Diagrams sketched by *Food - Animate - Inanimate* participants

Build a Communal Kitchen

A group activity for participants to build a communal kitchen together.

Build a Communal Kitchen

Objective

I investigated the idea of the commons—the idea that cultural and natural resources should be accessible to every member of a given society

through a group activity that invited participants to build a communal kitchen together. During the creation process, participants needed to take into consideration the kitchen's functionality as well as the issues that may arise when people share the same space. They also discussed and came up with the solutions to those potential problems.

کې کې Design process

The participants worked together on building the communal kitchen, based on the following set of questions:

- 1. Where and how do you plan to build the communal kitchen?
- 2. Who has access to the kitchen?
- 3. How should the kitchen be used?
- 4. What are the pros and cons of a communal kitchen?





Analysis & Insights

The exercise shed light on the participants' idea of a common space and how they planned to organize and maintain it. It also provided me with the referential framework for enabling coordination and negotiation among the potential users of the knowledge-sharing platform.

Refining

Summer–Fall 2020

Based on the experiences acquired from the generating phase, I organized a sequential participatory activity spanning over 3 months in order to:

- understand my stakeholders, their pain points, and their skill set
- · involve the audience in the ideation process
- map out the potential directions for the final design outcome

OBJECTIVE

The experience of conducting workshops in the spring term of 2020 demonstrated the effectiveness of participatory activities in encouraging storytelling and idea sharing. Thus, I entered the summer semester with a plan for a more focused workshop. *Fridge Talk* invited participants to take photos of the inside of their fridge and make a list of the refrigerated foods over the course of one week. Through this activity, the participants reflected on their relationship with food and ecological matters, addressed challenges in adopting a sustainable lifestyle, and brainstormed strategies to overcome those obstacles. The proposed ideas would later give inspiration to the creation of the knowledge-sharing platform.

DESIGN PROCESS

Fridge Talk is a a sequential participatory activity made up of 3 phases: general survey, notes and photo journal, and interview.

1. General Survey



The survey aimed at gaining insights into the respondents' general attitude towards food, ecological sustainability, and community engagement. For this phase, the quantity of responses played a rather important role in detecting patterns. It also provided me with some general information useful to guiding the conversations during the follow-up interviews.

{၀ိ} Design process

In this survey, likert scales were utilized to allow the respondents to rate their own level of engagement with food, ecological sustainability, and community activities. By enabling the respondents' self-assessment, I resisted imposing my personal perception regarding those matters. The same effort to flatten the hierarchy between the facilitator and the participants had been made throughout the research although on some occasions, certain terms needed definitions in order to navigate the discussions. For example, in this question, "Which environmental activities are you involved

likert scale

n.

a rating scale to measure the intensity of people's attitudes or opinions with?," I had to clarify the meaning of 'environmental activities' because this term could be interpreted in various ways and cause confusion among the respondents.

Following the likert scale questions were long-text questions asking the respondents to elaborate more on how they were engaged with or disengaged from the researched topics. The survey ended with a question about identifying the connection between environmental issues and community engagement.

△ Challenges

Due to the pandemic, the dissemination of the survey was limited to my circle of friends and multiple social media channels. Thus, the results did



Figure 10.

Chart measuring participants' engagement with the matter of environmental sustainability

Figure 11.

Chart measuring participants' engagement with their community

Figure 12.

Diagram positioning an individual's level of engagement in relation to food, environmental sustainability, and community participation



not reflect the opinions of those who struggled with technology or had no online presence.

Analysis & Insights

The dataset signified that the majority of the respondents showed great enthusiasm for food and experienced it through various daily activities. Meanwhile their level of interest in environmental issues seemed to diverge more with fewer points of engagement. The disparity increased when it came to community engagement. In addition to time limitation, other factors such as social anxiety, lack of relevant communities, language barrier may account for the low community engagement.

2. Notes & Photo Journal

In this phase, the participants were instructed to take a photo of the inside of their fridge and another one 7 days later. In addition to this, they made a list of the refrigerated products on the two days when the photos were taken. This activity allowed the participants to take a closer look at their fridge and how they interacted with it. It also provided visual cues for the participants to recall what they had done with their food during those 7 days and helped set the follow-up interview in motion.

3. Interview

Objective

Unlike the general survey which focused on the quantity of responses, the semi-structured interview was meant to generate in-depth conversations with a small group of participants. This phase helped me gain insights into the participants' challenges in adopting sustainable food practices and identify potential approaches to encouraging them to lead a more environmentally friendly lifestyles.



Design process

The design of the workshop took inspiration from Hyunjae Daniel Shin and Richard Bull's model of design for sustainable behavior, in which they emphasized the understanding of the complexity involved in daily activities (2019, p. 2). Moreover, they upheld the power of decision-making in building users' strong sense of empowerment and responsibility for "their volition and choices towards practicing sustainable behavior" (p. 4). Therefore, the research process intended to avoid heading towards a one-sizefits-all solution. Instead, it involved active listening and empathy with each participant's unique living situation.

The first part of the workshop invited the participants to talk about their personal experiences with food, their interpretation of the term 'sustain-ability' and how it was reflected in their daily food practices. Then, they discussed the challenges as well as the factors influencing their understanding and behaviors within the realm of domestic food practices. The final

section employed a morphological matrix with the horizontal plane presenting three greatest challenges in adopting sustainable domestic food practices and the vertical plane presenting three greatest influences on their food practices. This exercise was designed to activate the participants' imagination of the possible methods that could solve their challenges while aligning with their interests.

morphological matrix

n.

an method of combining various aspects of a problem to generate ideas

△ Challenges

Because the participants could not gather in the same physical space, some of them had to do the brainstorming activity on their own, which

works in compariment [35:46] strategy in washing dishes ntion activity. It's a requerce of acti ties (12:15) The device to may things wirnes from different lucos help reduce 38:06 Some [14:06] Some cheeses can stay C. Framy monge > V deterger 16:38 Tupperware? Do they help? are the ventent? Aclear dishe mix: soap & water 19:10 social & personal innes go hand in hand [11:21] Does proger help posserve food or does it choostrage more hoarding & less channing? [40:23] leftover from nextaurand. . cometimes it's too small to bring how Co warde. [AT: ST] Pressure on customers to live a more 14.55] singles : Cooking > leftover sustainable lefestgle AS. 07.55 Food as an enterina orment experience. Hotno lose weight diet -> 1 sustainable ? 24:39 reic / Indian

Figure 13.

Notes from the interviews with individual participants



Figure 14. Brainstorming session with participants



Figure 15. The morphological matrix generated by participants



Figure 16. Categorization of participants' ideas

resulted in less robust synergy and put more pressure on each individual. Fortunately enough, I managed to put together a small group for the brainstorming session. Here, the participants really benefited from each other's presence and energy and a lot of interesting ideas had been generated that day.

Analysis & Insights

The data analysis involved evaluating each participant's input and comparing them with others'. Then, I grouped all the suggested ideas according to themes. Four recurring themes among the participants' ideas included socializing, sharing, packaging, and dieting. Other themes that addressed rather systemic issues were related to finance and policy. For some participants, there existed no distinction between personal and socio-political challenges because the top-down decisions would eventually effect their everyday decisions. Unfortunately, the influence did not go both ways; as community members, the participants had limited ways to communicate their frustration and concerns and make substantial changes. A few participants commented on how the current service system made sustainable choices expensive, inconvenient, and unrewarding, thus discouraged people from pursuing them.

OUTCOMES

Based on the suggestions from the participants, I chose those that could be tackled using my current practices in communication and interaction design



Figure 17. Storyboards based on participants' ideas

and developed storyboards to map out their trajectories. The visualization allowed me to see which design solutions had the most potential for future growth and the point of intersection where most of them met. Therefore, instead of taking into account individuals' interests and challenges, the design outcome was a hybrid of all participants' inputs.

One of the participants' most common sentiments was their sense of helplessness in the face of the broken food system; their efforts and challenges in adopting more sustainable domestic food practices were deemed insignificant and went unrecognized in the larger food landscape. Their proposed ideas, on the other hand, suggested the yearning for connection and their ability to think creatively, especially in a group setting. As a result, the design outcome looked for ways to gather the scattered knowledge and enable their impact to reach beyond a single household unit.

In this regard, sustainable businesses could lend a hand in transforming the collective ideas of eco-conscious individuals into tangible products and services. During the interview, a participant of mine expressed her overjoy with the experience with Imperfect Foods—a groceries delivery service that set out to save misshaped produce and reduce food waste. Her voluntary conversion into the brand's evangelist showcased the perfect example of when a business objective upheld the users' values. Realizing the mutual benefits that eco-consious individuals and sustainable businesses could enjoy, I got into contact with people who worked in food services. Through these conversations, I learned about their interaction with the customers and in which way they enabled them to become active agents in the fight against environmental issues.

The analysis and idea sketches acquired through the refining stage would inform the development of the final outcome.

CHAPTER 3 Design Outcome & Future Directions
Design Outcome

Fall 2020–Spring 2021

Precedent Review

The brainstorming session with the participants inspired the creation of a collaborative platform where those interested in food and sustainability could not only contribute to *the common resource of knowledge* but also *turn this knowledge into action* by creating initiatives and getting people involved with them. In this regard, the manifestation of the idea bears some resemblance to the two biggest knowledge-sharing platforms—Wikipedia and Quora. Thus, the precedent review of these two examples served as an attempt to understand their structure and mechanism.

1. Wikipedia

Defined by itself as "a multilingual open-collaborative online encyclopedia created and maintained by a community of volunteer editors using a wiki-based editing system," Wikipedia showcases the belief in the wisdom of crowds and how they organize themselves into a functional community.

The tug-of-war between openness and restriction

One of Wikipedia's salient feature lies in its open policy to anyone's submission and editing, an idea rooted in the wiki inventor's aspiration to bring out the "story-telling nature in all of us." In an interview, Ward Cunningham says, "I wanted people who wouldn't normally author to find it comfortable authoring, so that there stood a chance of us discovering the structure of what they had to say" (Venners, 2003).

Despite the impression of being an anarchical platform, Wikipedia is anything but unstructured. Due to its very openness, the initial iteration of the platform gained the reputation as an error-ridden and untrustworthy resource. Thus, over time, Wikipedia has learned to employ "a series of consensus driven vetting processes that strive to ensure the information is accurate, is verifiable, is built on solid sources, and excludes personal opinion." The investigation goes through three phases starting with nominating an article for deletion (AfD) followed by a five-day argument and ending with the final judgment made by a Wikipedia administrator.

Based on his first-hand experience of the AfD process, Andrew McAfee, the author of Enterprise 2.0 describing the application of user-centric web tool in business—takes note of the two key elements that hold Wikipedia together. The first is "an ethic of self-governance and treating others with respect" and the second is transparency—"everyone's edits can be read and commented upon by anyone else." The code of conduct plays a crucial role in sustaining a community, whether it is virtual or not.

However, the very censorship leads to the debate of what kind of information is acceptable and what is not. McAfee recalls, "What's lost there [in the AfD process] is that some people who have a lot of energy to bring get turned off by theses deletionists trying to slam doors in our faces" (Silverthorne 2007).

End users

Wikipedia's target audience could be anyone who wishes to seek out accessible and trustworthy sources of information. The smaller and more powerful segment of end users includes administrators, registered users, and frequent contributors. Those are the people who uphold the core values of the platform and keep it running.

Information organization

The information on Wikipedia is organized into categories and subcategories. Every Wikipedia page should belong to at least one category ("Wikipedia:Categorization," 2021) Users have the ability to create new categories. Should there be proposals to delete, merge, rename or split categories, they will go under review and administrators will make the final decision. Although Wikipedia does allow a certain extent of granularity, its structure supports an expansive navigation moving from one page to another rather than an in-depth exploration moving from a broad topic to a narrower one.

How does this case study inform my design?

As I design a knowledge-sharing platform, it is helpful to learn how an egalitarian platform like Wikipedia regulated and improved itself over time. The process of developing a collection of policies and guidelines took years and depended on the administrators' receptivity to conflicting opinions. Thus, I do not attempt to create a code of conduct beforehand, but rather come up with possible solutions should conflicts arise.

The precedent review of Wikipedia also gives me insights into their audience segmentation and the power dynamics between editors and administrators. As shown in the example of Wikipedia, only a small fraction out of the enormous number of users actually make contribution to the platform. The same result could be expected from my design. Although my platform will be catered to those passionate about food and its ecological impacts, it is likely that the majority would be passive readers instead of content generators. "How to invite passive readers to start taking action" and "how to keep the content generators engaged with the initiative" are the two questions I'd like to answer through the case study of Quora.

2. Quora

Similar to Wikipedia, Quora sets out with the mission to "share and grow the world's knowledge." However, unlike Wikipedia, which focuses on the acquisition of factual information and keeps the validation process in the back end,

Quora makes room for personal opinions and enables users to communicate on question-answer basis.

A knowledge-sharing social network

Quora functions more like a social network platform that connects the people with knowledge to the people who need it. Therefore, it encourages users to register for accounts by limiting the actions that an anonymous user can take. The inclusion of credentials and highlights in the users' profile will also elevate the credibility of their answers, thus ensuring the quality of the content. In this regards, my design aligns better with Quora's initiative than Wikipedia's because it strives towards the balance between respecting everyone's personal experiences and opinions and producing helpful and valuable content.

End users

Quora's audience segmentation bears some resemblance to Wikipedia's although it is tied more to its business model in which users could earn income by generating quality content and brands could use the platform to promote their products. According to the case study conducted by Namrata Dhall and Mehak Kothari (2020), the users are divided into 5 groups:



For the purpose of my research, I focus on the first three groups and their interaction with the platform.

The first group of users could be anyone looking for answers through a search engine. However, they cannot view more than one thread, ask a question, or write an answer without signing up. While the second and third groups require account registration, they can choose to remain their anonymity. Their frequent prompts and imposed restriction on non-registered users suggest that having an account is essential to a platform like Quora, which aims to build an intellectual enriching environment.

A noteworthy power dynamic among the users, as mentioned in an analysis of Quora, is that super users (or users with a significant number of followers) "attract more and better answers from their followers" (p. 8). Unsurprisingly, those with such wide social network are usually celebrities, e.g. editors, actors, and CEOs. "Overall, more than half (58%) of all users have more followees than followers. A very small portion (0.1%) have 100 times more followers than followees." In this regards, a high profile is likely to leverage one's social influence on Quora. This is an almost inevitable result for a social network, but also one that I am wary about. Although some users may have more knowledge and

experience in adopting sustainable food practices than others and feel more comfortable in participating in social initiatives, I want to make sure that new users enjoy the equal chance of voicing their opinions.

Functionality

Similar to other technology platforms that strive towards improving users' experience, Quora applies a voting system to promote good answers by increasing their visibility. Although this feature helps decreasing the time of rummaging through a plethora of answers, it plays to the advantage of super users whose answers have a better chance of receiving upvotes from their followers.

Quora uses financial reward as a strategy to encourage users to not only give helpful answers but also pose meaningful questions. It also offers bloggers the opportunity to have their work published through its partnership with the world's renowned media newspapers. Besides the pursuit of knowledge, recognition and financial reward are employed as incentives for content generation.

As a social network, Quora allows its users to send each other messages and direct questions to certain people. This helps one not only expand their social network but also acquire more focused answers.

Information Organization

Quora's way of organizing information is more or less the same as Wikipedia's with parent and child topics suggesting the hierarchical relationship between topics and offering more granular categorization. In the case of Quora, however, information organization not only benefits easy navigation but also directs questions to those who are interested in the same topics and more likely to have the answers.

How does this case study inform my design?

Unlike Wikipedia, Quora allows more interaction among users with private messaging and posing questions to specific people. On the one hand, Quora provides a formal approach to organizing information with topics having clear and canonical names and edited by Quora writers community; on the other hand, there are casual spaces for sharing and discussing Quora content, links, and posts. The interplay between restriction and openness creates a structural but flexible system. I hoped to achieve such a balance with my platform.

Minimum Viable Product (MVP) Development



1. Concept Development

The imagined platform stems from the concept of ecological sustainability as an indefinitely evolving process rather than a predetermined destination. Thus, the proposed solution requires constant and sustained assessment and improvement. This idea bears resemblance to the mechanism of current technology companies which seeks to continually enhance their products by turning to their customers for error reports and feature suggestions. The user-centric strategy benefits the businesses as well as elevated users to the level of co-designers. The same method could be applied to a sustainability-focused project like mine, in which the users not only stay informed of the existing knowledge and practices but also open up undiscovered opportunities for improvement. The greatest advantage that users gain from this platform is the ability to gather collective efforts of the like-minded.

2. Personas

Personas are fictional characters build upon preliminary research to represent different user types ("Personas: A Simple Introduction," 2020). The technique is widely applied in the interaction design process in order to understand the basic information of the target audience, their needs, values, goals, and frustration. Personas are made as human as possible to evoke the sense of empathy and customer-oriented thinking. A caution, when using personas, is to not mistake them for real people because they are just the generalized version of the acquired data. Instead, designers should conduct various user testing sessions to validate or invalidate the details of the personas (Buley, 2013, p. 135).

Based on the participatory activities and the case studies of Wikipedia and Quora, the personas represent the group of audience who are interested in food and its ecological impacts and look for ways to integrate more sustainable food practices in their daily life. The target audience is divided into two sub-groups: readers and writers. As suggested in the case studies, readers—those searching for relevant content but contributing little to none to the development of the platform—are likely to make up the majority of the users. Writers, on the other hand, form a much smaller group but generate most of the content.

minimum viable product

n.

the simplest version of a product that allows a fast and inexpensive testing process of the core features



Figure 18.

Persona development

3. User Journey

A user journey is a visual trip of the user across the solution considering "not only the steps that a user takes but also their feelings, pain points, and moments of delight" (Munro, 2020). By putting the personas in specific scenarios, this technique helps gain the bird's eye view of the entire process from approaching and onboarding to converting the users into the advocates of the platform. Because the user journey was built on assumptions, it differs from the popular templates in the description of the users' emotions. Instead of showing how the users will feel, it outlines the desirable outcomes and the pain points that they may go through at each stage. As a result, the proposed solutions should ease the pain points and bring the users back to the desirable outcome. In order to optimize the proposal and show only the strategic planning, not all aspects of the journey are fully developed. This more condensed deliverable can be referred to as the Minimum Viable Product (MVP).

4. MVP Development

Popularized by Eric Ries as one of the Lean Startup methodologies, a *minimum* viable product (MVP) has just enough core features to help entrepreneurs start

	Reader Sam 16-22 years old	Sam has just arrived in Vancouver, schooler. Since he is new to the cit should visit this site to understand to regulations here.	BC as an international high y, his homestay host suggests he the waste disposal and recycling		
	Awareness	Considertion	Onboarding	Participate	Advocacy
User Actions	Through words of mouth Online search for resources related to food & sustainability	Search and read through content without having to sign up Can't take any action without signing up	Sign up Useful starter kit	Participate in initiative Find product/service	Share content with friends Rate/ Comment on product/ service
Touchpoints	Social media Online search Community or organization dedicated to food & sustainability	Landing page Search bar Category page Navigation links		Support Initiative Comment on Initiative Follow Initiative View product service	
Desired Emotions	Curious	Amazed by the quality content	Quick & easy registration process. Useful & bite- size content for new users	Happy to be part of a meaningful initiative Happy to see helpful product/ service	Happy to spread the message
Potential Painpoints		Bugged by the disorganized content	Boring process. Just want to get it over with.	Skeptical when an initiative doesn't move forward	Can't find any relevant product
Possible Solutions		Using the combination of taxonomy and folksonomy to organize content	Require minimum personal info input: Name, username, email address, location, topics of interest Top 3 resources in the area	An initiative will go to archive if It hasn't been updated for X amount of time.	An initiative will go to archive if it hasn't been updated for X amount of time.
(PO)	Writer Amy 24-35 years old	Anny has been living in Vancouver, and out of the food & sustainability opportunity to share her knowling is just a drop in the ocean; it doesn	BC for more than 3 years. She knows all situation here. However, she never has a situation here. However, she never has a how the situation of	the in n er effort nges.	
	Writer Amy 24-35 years old	Amy has been living in Vancouver, and out of the food & sustainability opportunity to share her knowledge is just a drop in the ocean; it doesn Considertion	BC for more than 3 years. She knows all a shatten here. However, she never has a with the likeminided, She also farts like h I bring about any significant systemic cha	the in or effort inges. Participate	Atronacy
User Actors	Writer Amy 24-35 years cid Amerones Through words of mouth Online search for resources related to food & sustainability	Amy has been living in Vancouver, and out of the food & sustainability opportunity to alsue her incoverage is part a drop in the occarr, it does Consideration Search and read through content without having to sign up Can't take any action without signing up	BC for more than 3 years. She knows all shalloon here. However, she never has a with the likenrieded. She also feels like h t bring about any significant systemic cha Ontioanting Sign up Useful stanter kt	Participate Create initiative Participate in initiative Find product/service Suggest product/service	Advocsacy Try to resolve what's initiated Share content with friends Refer Comment on product's service
Cuer Actions	Writer Amy 24-35 years aid Automotes Through words of mouth Ortime search for recourses related to food & sustainability Social media Community or organization desicated to food & sustainability	Amy has been living in Vancouver, and out of the food & sustainability opportunity is share her knowling is just a drop in the council, if down Considerion Search and read Though content without having to sign up Can take any action without signing up Landing page Search bar Category page Navigation links	BC for more than 3 years, She horows all distinution here. However, she never has a with the likeminided. She also tests like h to bring about any significant systemic char Onboarding Sign up Useful stanter ket	Participate Participate Participate Participate in initiative Participate in initiative Find product/ service Suggest product/ service Keep initiative updated Product page	Advocacy Try to resolve what's initiated Share content with friends Rate/ Comment on product/service
User Actions Ducrypoints	Verier Amy 24-35 years old American Through words of mouth Ontime search for resources metadad to food & sustainability Social media Chaine search Contime search Contime search Contime search Media	Amy has been living in Vancouver, and out of the food & sustainability is just a drop in the occase, it does Considerition Search and read Discogly content without Naving to sign to Can take any action without signing up Landing page Search bar Costigoury page Navigation links Canacod by the quality content	BC for more than 3 years. She honous all all shallon hore. However, she nover has a with the likeminided, She also feels like h (Debounding) Sign up Useful starter kit Useful starter kit Onder the starter kit	the in or operation of the initiality of the in	Advocacy Try to resolve what's initiated Ghare content with friends Rate/ Comment on product's service
User Actors User Actors Desired Encolors Petershol Paraports	Writer Amy 24-35 years dd Awarenens Through words of mouth Ordine search for resources related to tood & sustanabily Social media Ordine search Community or organization dedicated to tood & sustanabily Curtons	Amy has been living in Vancouver, opportunity to share the thorefore part of other food a sustainability constraints of the food a sustainability consideration Consideration Search and read Through content without having to sign up to Cant take any setton without signing up Cant take any setton without signing up Cantageory page Category page Maxing content Amazand by the disreguezed content Category take Category page Category	BC for more than 3 years. She howars all shalloon here. However, she never has a with the likewinded. She also feels like h United the shear of the shear of the shear of Ontioarding Sign up Useful stanter lot Useful stanter lot use content for new uses as content for new uses Boring process. Just want to get it over with.	Participate Participate Participate Create initiative Participate in initiative Find product/service Suggest product/service Reep initiative updated Product page	Athomay Try to reacive what's initiated Share content with Hends Refer Comment on product' service

the process of learning in the quickest and least expensive way possible. Therefore, my final design does not cover the entire user journey, but instead focuses on the participate stage in which the users share information and knowledge and create and support initiatives. The goal of an MVP is to "test fundamental business hypotheses."

Figure 20. Writer's user journey

Figure 19.

Reader's user journey

Following 's format: We believe that [doing this/ building this feature/ creating this experience] for [these people/ personas] will achieve [this outcome]. We will know this is true when we see [this market feedback, quantitative measure, or qualitative insight].

here is the main hypothesis that I test out:

I believe that building a knowledge-and-initiative-sharing platform

for those interested in food and its ecological impacts

will result in a more ecological thinking community and motivate them to adopt more sustainable domestic food practices.

I will know this is true when I see

the users understand the core values and functionalities of the platform and show the willingness to use it as the reliable source of knowledge and inspiration.

User Flow

A user flow presents a series of steps that users take to complete a certain task. In the case of building the knowledge-and-initiative sharing platform, I map out



Figure 21. Flow of first time user's searching for resources

the interaction sequences surrounding the two main features—communal knowledge resources and communal initiatives.

Wireframe & Interactive Prototype

A wireframe is a low-fidelity design that outlines the general structure of a webpage. For the knowledge-sharing platform, the wireframe development process focuses on the four main pages: home page, initiatives, resources, and products and services. Followed by that is the design of an interactive prototype to show the design elements' functionalities and the transition among the pages.

•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Home Initiatives	Resources P&S	Vancouver, BC
RESOURCES >	Search	ADD	PRODUCTS & SERVICES >
Recipes for Leftover Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore	INITIATIVES >	FILTER AII 🗸	
magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua 609 contributors		April Nguyen	★★★★ 120 Reviews
Recipes for Leftover Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua 609 contributors		Make Community Garden More Accessible Aug 1, 2020 Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna	Product/ Service Name Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy elimod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero
Recipes for Leftover Lorem (psum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna allquyam erat, sed diam voluptua		Supporters Comments Solutions 609 609 609 609 609	★★★★★ 120 Reviews
609 contributors			Product/ Service Name Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr,
Recipes for Leftover Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elltr, sed diam nonumy elimod tempor invidunt ut talaore et dolore		April Nguyen	sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero

Figure 22.

Homepage wireframe

User Experience Testing

The user experience testing was conducted with three participants to assess the desirability of the proposed solution and observe how they navigated through the platform, searched for results, and created new content.

The first part, desirability testing, aimed at figuring out whether the testers understood the concept and showed interest in the idea of an actionable-knowledge-sharing platform. The results indicated that the testers found the idea straightforward and showed interest in seeing it developed further.

The second part, usability testing, helped determine whether the testers could complete assigned tasks successfully and independently. In order to understand their mental state, the testers were asked to describe what they observed and spoke out loud their decision making process. For this session, their tasks included navigating through the main pages, searching for results, and creating new content. Although the testers had little trouble with the navigation, as new users, they would prefer to see more detailed description of the platform on the welcome page as well as well additional captions under the sub-headings on the home page. This extra information would prevent confusion and give them a better idea of what they were about to click onto. Additionally, most testers had difficulty finding the call-to-action button for creating new content. Though it was intended to encourage searching before creating a new post, thus avoid overlapping information and keeping the platform organized, a more accessible 'add' function was important to the growth of the knowledge-sharing community. The usability testing also brought to attention other aspects such as the usage of icons, information architecture, and copywriting.



Figure 23.

The design iteration of welcome page based on the first user experience testing

Design Iteration

Developing the design of the platform further involved proposing design solutions to the testers' most commonly-made comments and delivering a high-fidelity wireframe with more elaborate interaction flows.



Figure 24.

The design iteration of homepage based on the first user experience testing

The first task focused on reimagining the welcome page as the simplification of the original wireframe obscured the main objective of the platform, resulting in the testers' confusion and reluctance to explore further. Similar problems happened to the home page due to the lack of description under each section. Instead of overwhelming the audience with a lengthy explanation, I opted for a rather succinct and action-based language.

The call-to-action (CTA) button for creating a new post became more discoverable by being placed next to the search bar and in-between the search results. Its visible presence provides a ready solution in case the users can't find relevant posts.

Because the platform offered multiple types of content that a person could generate, having a short description beside each type gave them a general idea of what they were about to create. For each type of content, there was a clear instruction on the steps the users needed to take before publishing a post. Since this was an actionable-knowledge-sharing platform, more attention was given to the process of creating a new initiative. Inspired by community-based websites such as Change, Chuffed, and Kickstaters, the copy was crafted in such a way that would encourage the content generator to look from the readers' perspective to increase the engagement and support among their community.

< Back to Homepage save∣	(X) Create Post	Figure 25. The CTA button for creating a new pos placed next to the search bar
Filtered by Type All types Initiatives Discussions Resources	Results tagged "save" Can't find relevant results? <u>Click here</u> to create or request for new content. In this way by a save ugly produce in Vancouver	
	Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo dolores et ea rebum. Stet clita kasd gubergren, no sea takimata sanctus est Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet <u>Read more</u> Can't find relevant results? Click the button below to create or request for new content. Create Post	Figure 26. On the same page, the CTA button for creating a new post placed after every five results as a reminder
	Diseases Can meal kits save time and money? Jan 27, 2001 Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore	

Another gap identified through the user experience testing was the omission of a discussion section in which verbal exchanges took place without a specific agenda. Since discussions differed from initiatives and resources in their nature, it required a separate page for this section.

Figure 27.

An example of a discussion post

del.e	Community Condens Mans Accessible	0	Delete d Com	
4ake ug1, 2020	Community Gardens More Accessible		What is the reason for Joy	ce-Collingwood
8	Username		609 O 6	09 \bigcirc 609
orem ip Iolore m	sum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labo Iagna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo dolores et ea rebum. S	re et Stet	What are teaching program	ms for children at
	1 gubergren, no sea takimata sanctus est Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet community garden park conversion urban agriculture		What is the reason for Joy community garden closed	ce-Collingwood /? > 09 \(\colored b) 609
Views	Comments Likes ○ 609 ♡ 609		Do Vancouver have indoo	r community gardens? > 09
			Most Viewed	Resources
	FILTER Most upvotes Mo	strecent	Tips on reducing food was	te >
B	FILTER Most upyrotes Mo	strecent	Tips on reducing food was Recipes for leftover > List of community garden	te >
B	FILTER Most upprotes Most Username	st recent	Tips on reducing food was Recipes for leftover > List of community garden Tips on reducing food was Recipes for leftover > List of community garden Tips on call-vice food was	te > sin Vancouver > te > sin Vancouver > te >
8	FILTER Most upprotes Most Username Loren ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam erat justo duo dolores et ea reburn. Stet clita kasd gubergren, no sea takimata sanctus est See more Image:	st recent et	Tips on reducing food was Recipes for lettover > List of community garden Tips on reducing food was Recipes for lettover > List of community garden Tips on reducing food was Recipes for leftover > List of community started	te > sin Vancouver > te > sin Vancouver > te > sin Vancouver >

CREATE AN INITIATIVE



Figure 28. The first step in creating an initiative

For the most recently updated prototype, please click **here** to experience the interactions and leave your comments for future improvement.

Future Directions & Conclusion Future Directions

Content Generation & Code of Conduct Development

The first testing session indicates that users' engagement with the platform depends on the quality of its content. The majority of the testers expressed their wish to see one or two examples of complete posts in order to determine whether they should revisit the page. This aspect could not be addressed in the final deliverable because only when the platform is launched, will actual content generation be possible. Similarly, although the current design provides a general framework for information organization, its manifestation depends largely on the content generated.

The same could be said about the code of conduct development. As proven in the case studies of Wikipedia and Quora, an established code of conduct determines how these user-driven communities function. Thanks to the prevalence of social media over the past decades, there has been a basic framework for building a code of conduct and how it will hold both the users and the administrators accountable for maintaining the integrity of the shared platforms. Nevertheless, the formation of the code of conduct will require the contribution from a larger group of users and its legitimacy needs to stand the test of time. Because these factors fall outside of the scope of this research, the design outlines some simple functionalities for users to begin drafting their code of conduct. However coarsely designed these features may appear, they are created with the aim to encourage an egalitarian and respectful discourse among users in reaching a mutual agreement.

Customers & Businesses

The design created in this research project targets citizens with concerns about food and its ecological impacts. It could, however, be extended to entrepreneurs hoping to build their businesses around food and sustainability because their success depends largely on the growth of a loyal customer base. In order to offer competitive price point against food industry giants, these businesses may have to cut down their marketing expenses. This platform is the place where sustainable food businesses could promote their products and reach out to more focused audience without the investment in multiple media channels. Since the platform exists separately from other e-commerce channels, the credibility reviews will be approved or challenged by customers. In this way, the platform not only brings customers and businesses closer but also acts as an autonomous channel for customers to hold businesses accountable for authenticity and transparency. Moreover, this relationship would help drive customer-initiated projects forward. Despite their ability to come up with innovative ideas, prospective customers may lack the technical capacity and financial resources to turn them into reality. Entrepreneurs could connect and collaborate with those eco-conscious customers to generate more human-centric solutions.

Multi-lingual & Multi-regional Resources

A feature that has not been fleshed out in the final design outcome is the ability to toggle between multilingual resources related to food and sustainability. This is the feature that knowledge-sharing platforms such as Wikipedia and Quora have adopted to invite more culturally diverse resources, although the content is still predominantly written in English. Should the language barriers be overcome with the help of translation tools and volunteers' contributions, the cross-cultural information exchange enabled by multi-lingual options will become more inclusive and robust. For example, once, out of curiosity, I translated an English-written article about food and sustainability and uploaded it to a Vietnamese page dedicated to the matters for an open discussion. To my surprise, the post attracted significant participation from the page members whose opinions were shaped by their social and cultural backgrounds and differed from the mainstream English sources. The instance strengthens my belief in the necessity of integrating a multi-lingual aspect into the platform.

Green User Experience (UX) Design Strategies

In order to further the sustainable initiative, the implementation of the platform will consider applying green user experience design strategies to lower the website's carbon footprint. According to Tim Frick, the author of Design for Sustainability, front-end components "comprised between 76 to 92% of total page load time." (2016, p. 195) Because the loading time of a web page is directly proportional to the amount of energy it consumes, front-end designers play a critical role in coming up with optimized solutions. The majority of their impact lies in the choice of font and the formats of images and other graphical elements. Understanding imagery as an important part of communicating content, Lowtech Magazine-a solar-powered site of technology publication introduce dithering, a technique traditionally used to create the illusion of color depth in images with a limited color technology (Low-tech Magazine, n.d.). Without images in full-color high resolution, the loading speed of a web page will increase significantly. Other resolutions include offering dark mode feature which cuts down the amount of power a display uses (Tung, 2018) and avoiding frivolous user interface animations (Baskanderi, 2018). Furthermore, my platform could reduce its environmental cost by selecting a hosting provider that uses renewable energy as opposed to fossil fuel. There exists a wide range of approaches that a green UX designer could take to reduce the carbon emissions of their websites. In the case of my knowledge-sharing platform, the decision will depend on the balance between aesthetic values, meaningful interactions, and the ecological implication of the design elements.

Conclusion

Through the application of participatory approach, the project found out that even those who try to adopt eco-friendly domestic food practices encounter multiple challenges in pursuing a sustainable lifestyle and making concrete impact. While the conversations and workshops with these individuals showed their struggle, frustration, and yearning for connection with the like-minded, they also revealed their wealth of knowledge and practices waiting to be discovered and shared. Therefore, the development of an actionable-knowledge-sharing platform hopes to provide a space for environmental advocates to hold discussions, share ideas, and move sustainable initiatives forward. The companionship and collaboration will enable this eco-conscious community to untangle the complexity of our current food system and bring about meaningful changes to the ecological environment.

References

Ballantyne-Brodie, E., & Telalbasic, I. (2017). Designing local food systems in everyday life through service design strategies. The Design Journal, 20(sup1), S3079–S3095. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2017.1352816

Barber, D. (2014). The Third Plate. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Amsterdam University Press.

Baskanderi, N. (2018, May 27). UI Animation: Please Use Responsibly - UX Collective. Retrieved from https://uxdesign.cc/ui-animation-please-use-responsibly-e707dbdb12d5

Battarbee, K., Suri, J. F., & Howard, S. G. (2014, January). Empathy on the edge. Retrieved from https://new-ideo-com.s3.amazonaws.com/assets/files/pdfs/ news/Empathy_on_the_Edge.pdf

B.-N. Sanders, E. B. N., & Stappers, P. J. (2012). Convivial Toolbox. Amsterdam, Netherlands: BIS.

Boehnert, J. (2014, January 1). Ecological perception: seeing systems. Retrieved from https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/Ecological_perception_seeing _systems/9332633

Buley, L. (2013). The User Experience Team of One: A Research and Design Survival Guide (1st ed.). Brooklyn, New York: Rosenfeld Media.

Capra, F. (2005). Speaking Nature's Language: Principles for Sustainability. In Z. Barlow & M. K. Stone (Eds.), Ecological Literacy: Educating Our Children for a Sustainable World (pp. 18–29). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Adfo Books.

Carney, J. (1845). Little Things. Retrieved from https://allpoetry.com/ poem/8564453-Little-Things-by-Julia-Abigail-Fletcher-Carney

Ceschin, F., & Gaziulusoy, I. (2016). Evolution of design for sustainability: From product design to design for system innovations and transitions. Design Studies, 47, 118–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2016.09.002

Chick, A., & Micklethwaite, P. (2011). Design for Sustainable Change: How Design and Designers Can Drive the Sustainability Agenda. Singapore, Singapore: AVA Publishing.

Dhall, N., & Kothari, M. (2020, September 15). Quora | UX Case Study. Retrieved from https://uxplanet.org/quora-ux-case-study-7c51706728fc

Fogg, B. J. (2009). A behavior model for persuasive design. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Persuasive Technology – Persuasive '09, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1145/1541948.1541999

Frick, T. (2016). Designing for Sustainability: A Guide to Building Greener Digital Products and Services (1st ed.). Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media.

GAZİULUSOY, A. ş. İ., & ERDOĞAN ÖZTEKİN, E. (2018). Design as a Catalyst for Sustainability Transitions. DRS2018: Catalyst, 1041–1051. https://doi. org/10.21606/drs.2018.292

Hahn, Y. (2014). Communication of Food Sustainability: from Dissemination to Participatory Knowledge Building. Retrieved from https://www.academia. edu/7607880/Communication_of_Food_Sustainability_from_Dissemination_ to_Participatory_Knowledge_Building

Ingold, T. (2008). When ANT meets SPIDER: Social theory for arthropods. Material Agency, 209–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-74711-8_11

Jungk, R. (1972). Design Participation. (N. Cross, Ed.). London, UK: Academy Editions.

Ku, B., & Lupton, E. (2020). Health Design Thinking: Creating Products and Services for Better Health (The MIT Press) (1st ed.). New York, NY: The MIT Press.

Low-tech Magazine. (n.d.). About Low-tech Magazine. Retrieved from https:// solar.lowtechmagazine.com/about.html#how

Manzini, E. (2018). Autonomy, collaboration and light communities. Lessons learnt from social innovation. Strategic Design Research Journal, 11(2), 162–166. https://doi.org/10.4013/sdrj.2018.112.13

Manzini, E., & Coad, R. (2015). Design, When Everybody Designs. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Amsterdam University Press.

McAfee, A. P. (2006, April 1). Enterprise 2.0: The Dawn of Emergent Collaboration. Retrieved from https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/enterprise-the-dawn-ofemergent-collaboration/

Meadows, D. H. (2009). Thinking in Systems. (D. Wright, Ed.). Abingdon, United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis.

Munro, L. (2020, July 15). Understanding User Journey vs. User Flow. Retrieved from https://xd.adobe.com/ideas/process/user-research/user-journey-vs -user-flow/

Portigal, S. (2013). Interviewing Users: How to Uncover Compelling Insights. Brooklyn, New York: Rosenfeld Media.

Ryan, M. (2006). Avatars Of Story (Volume 17) (Electronic Mediations) (First edition). Minneapolis, MN: University Of Minnesota Press.

Sanders, E. B.-N., & Stappers, P. J. (2008). Co-creation and the new landscapes of design. CoDesign, 4(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15710880701875068

Sanders, E. B.-N., & Stappers, P. J. (2014). Probes, toolkits and prototypes: three approaches to making in codesigning. CoDesign, 10(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/15710882.2014.888183

Shin, H. D., & Bull, R. (2019). Three Dimensions of Design for Sustainable Behaviour. Sustainability, 11(17), 4610. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174610

Silverthorne, S. (2007, July 23). HBS Cases: How Wikipedia Works (or Doesn't). Retrieved from https://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/hbs-cases-how-wikipedia-works -or-doesnt

Tung, L. (2018, November 9). Google: Here's why dark mode massively extends your OLED phone's battery life. Retrieved from https://www.zdnet.com/article/ google-heres-why-dark-mode-massively-extends-your-oled-phones-battery-life/

Venners, B. (2003, October 20). Exploring with Wiki. Retrieved from https://www.artima.com/intv/wiki.html

Wang, G., Gill, K., Mohanlal, M., Zheng, H., & Zhao, B. Y. (2013). Wisdom in the social crowd. Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on World Wide Web - WWW '13, 1341–1352. https://doi.org/10.1145/2488388.2488506

Weber, W. (2017). Interactive information graphics: A framework for classifying a visual genre. In A. Black, P. Luna, O. Lund, & S. Walker (Eds.), Information Design: Research and Practice (1st ed., pp. 243–256). New York, NY: Routledge.

White, P., st. Pierre, L. S., & Belletire, S. (2013). Okala Practitioner. Phoenix, AZ: IDSA.

Wikipedia:Categorization. (2021, January 15). Retrieved from https://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Wikipedia:Categorization#:%7E:text=To%20create%20a%20 category%2C%20first,)%2C%20and%20save%20your%20edit.

WWF. (2018, May 11). Six tips to help you eat more sustainably. Retrieved from https://www.wwf.org.uk/updates/six-tips-help-you-eat-more-sustainably

Appendixes

Emily Carr University Research Ethics Board (ECU-REB)

Research + Industry Office 520 East 1st Avenue Vancouver, BC V5T0H2



+1 604 844 3800 ext 2848 ethics@ecuad.ca

CERTIFICATE OF RESEARCH ETHICS APPROVAL

The Emily Carr University Research Ethics Board approves the following project:

Fi	le #	Title	Principal Investigator:	Other Investigators
10	00389	Food& - Food as the Gateway to Community Engagement and Ecological Thinking	Dr. Katherine Gillieson	Ms. Nhat Anh Nguyen

The current approval dates are:

Approval Date	Expiration Date		
August 31, 2020	May 31, 2021		

The nature of the approval is as follows:

Type of Event	Type of Review	Approved Documents
New Approval Process	Delegated Review	Anh (April) Nhat Nguyen_Survey Questionnaire edited [August 27, 2020 version] Anh (April) Nhat Nguyen_Research Invitation & Consent Agreement_edited Anh (April) Nhat Nguyen_Recruitment Materials Anh (April) Nhat Nguyen_Participatory activity guides

It is the researchers' responsibility to meet all research ethics requirements in the jurisdictions in which the research takes place. The procedures and protocols described in this certification must be followed closely. Note the following conditions associated with this approval:

- For multi-site or partnered research, researchers are required to comply with all research ethics requirements that apply. Researchers are expected to share notice of this approval with partners, sites of research, or other research ethics review boards, as applicable.
- If changes to the approved application and documents are required by new partners, sites of research or other research ethics boards, researchers are required to inform the ECU-REB of these changes.

Researchers are required to report anticipated changes, adverse incidents, and project completion for further research ethics review. All reporting is managed through the research portal on the Research Management System Process Pathways Romeo - <u>https://ecuad.researchservicesoffice.com/</u>. Login and complete "event" reports for changes, adverse conditions, renewals, and the completion of this research ethics file.

This research ethics approval is in compliance with Tri-Council guidelines (TCSP2 2018) and Emily Carr University policies and procedures.

1 Donh

Keith Doyle Chair, Emily Carr University Research Ethics Board Emily Carr University of Art + Design

Figure 29. Research ethics approval



EN 🗸



Figure 30. Research website homepage

2	2 Which food activities are	e you most involve	ed wit	
b. Here activ with	re are some suggestions. Y ivities from the list if you h h one.	ou may choose the ave a hard time co	e food oming up	
Choose	se as many as you like			
	Going to restaurants	C Discovering food trends	Reading articles or watching news/TV shows about food	
EC	Grocery	G Cooking H	Ordering	

Figure 31. *Fridge Talk*'s General survey



Hi there, you've completed our Food& survey on food, sustainability and community engagement a few months ago.

Now, we are excited to invite you to our next activity, *Fridge Talk*!



Q: What is Fridge Talk? A: It's an activity to explore in depth our relationship with food and ecological matters.

Q: Great! How do I join? A: It's easy – once you agree to join the activity, all you need to do is snap a shot of the inside of your fridge, and another one a week later. After gathering your photos, we will set up a 30minute interview where we discuss your survey results and your engagement with the activity.



To participate, please review the <u>Research Invitation & Consent Agreement</u> form and click the Accept button below to send us your response. Upon receipt of your email, we'll reply back within a day to let you know the next steps!

Accept

We are excited to have you join us in *Fridge Talk* and look forward to hearing from you soon!

For further information or questions, please visit our research website or send us an email.



Figure 32. Newsletter for participant recruitment

Appendixes • 56



Figure 33. *Fridge Talk*'s interview format



Figure 34. Flow of first time user's welcome page









Figure 37. Flow of first time user's searching for products and services

Discover Food & Sustainability Activities in Your Area Q Where are you living? or explore green communities around the world

÷ Search by location FILTER BY Initiative Resource P&S Heading 1 Subheading 1 Subheading 2 Subheading 3 Heading 2 Subheading 1 Subheading 2 Subheading 3 Heading 2 Subheading 1 Subheading 2 Subheading 3

Figure 40. 8 Home Initiatives Resources P&S Vancouver, BC \oplus Result page wireframe Ву Туре Results for save All types Can't find relevant results? Click here to create or request for ne Initiatives Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr... Resources Jan 27, 202 Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo... Products & Services By Time Resource Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr... Jan 27, 2021 All time Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo... Past hour Past day P&S Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr... Jan 27, 2021 Past week Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo... Past month Past year Initiative Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr... Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy elimod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et accusam et justo duo... Resource Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr...

Figure 39. Global view wireframe

Figure 38. Welcome page wireframe





Figure 41. Initiatives page wireframe

•••	B Home Distributives	Resources	Pås	Vancouver, BC				
Make	Back to Initiatives Make Community Garden More Accessible April Neuron							
	pin Nguyen	Posted on Aug 21, 2020 Updated on Aug 21, 2020 Updated on Aug 21, 2020 Lorem ipsum dolor si tempor invidunt ut lat	123 comments	solutions solutions				
Food w	Vero eos et accusam et justo duo dolores et ea rebum. Stet clita kasd gubergren, no sea takimata sanctus est Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut Food waste Food waste Food waste Food waste Food waste							
Add	d new events to your timeline							
	Make Community Garden More Accessible Feb 25, 2021			2021				
	Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At verce et ea rebum. Stet clita kasd gubergren, no sea takimata sanctus e insum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadinscing elitr, sed diam nonum	nonumy eirmod tempor ir o eos et accusam et justo est Lorem ipsum dolor sit	nvidunt ut duo dolores amet. Lorem ut labore et	Feb Jan				
	dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et a	ccusam et justo duo dolor	es et ea	2020				
	Make Community Garden More Accessible			2019				
	Feb 25, 2021			2018				



Figure 43. Resources page wireframe

•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Home		Resources P&S	Vancouve	er, BC
PRODUCTS & Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadip elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor	SERVIO	CES	rch		ADD
		Too Good to	Go 4.35/ 5 sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr dolore magne dolor sit amet, conse por invidunt ut labore et dolore mag Food waste Food waste	125 reviews , sed diam nonumy etetur sadipscing el gne <u>See more</u> Food waste	eirmod tempor itr, sed diam Food waste
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur	Lorem ipsum dolo	or sit amet, consetetur	Lorem ipsum dolor sit am	et, consetetur	Lorem ipsum dolor
sadipscing elitr ★★★★★ Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetetur sadipscing elitr, sed diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt ut labore et dolore magna aliquyam erat, sed diam voluptua. At vero eos et	sadipscing elitr ★★★★★ Lorem ipsum dolor sit arr diam nonumy eirmod terr magna aliquyam erat, see	net, consetetur sadipscing elitr, s npor invidunt ut labore et dolore d diam voluptua. At vero eos et	sadipscing elitr ★★★★★ ad Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consetet diam nonumy eirmod tempor invidunt magna aliquyam erat, sed diam volup	ur sadipscing elitr, sed ut labore et dolore tua. At vero eos et	sadipscing elitr ***** Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet diam nonumy eirmod tempo magna aliquyam erat, sed o
All Lorem ipsum dolor	ic Lorem ipsum dolor	Lorem ipsum dolo	or Lorem ipsum dolor	Recomme	nded for you

Figure 44. Products and services page wireframe



Figure 45. Create new content page wireframe

